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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Whether the circuit court below erred when it entered an order containing insufficient 
findings of fact and conclusions of law? 

2. Whether a circuit court exceeds its legitimate authority when it sanctions a party under 
Rule 37(b) without finding that the sanctioned party violated a discovery order? 

3. Whether an award of "costs" includes an award of attorneys' fees? 

4. Whether the imposition of $67,295.00 in sanctions along with the circuit court's failure to 
identify how that number was calculated violates Rule 37 or JLR's due process rights? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Overview of the discovery in this litigation. 

On November 19, 2014, Patricia Lyles ("Plaintiff') was injured when a coal truck rear-

ended her 2013 Land Rover LR2 HSE on U.S. Route 119 in Kanawha County, West Virginia. 

(App. at 14). She filed suit on May 22, 2015, against a number of defendants, including Jaguar 

Land Rover Limited ("JLR"), in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County ("circuit court"), and the 

matter was assigned to the Honorable Charles King. (See id. at 1-53). Plaintiff advances a number 

of claims against JLR in her Complaint, the general thrust of which is her contention that the seat 

in her Land Rover was defectively designed. (See, e.g., id. at 14 ~ 30-31). 

The litigation below has progressed slowly and discovery has been contentious. Plaintiffs 

counsel initially signed a written agreement to conduct discovery according to the strictures ofthe 

Hague Convention-given that JLR is a UK-based company and has no presence in the United 

States, (App. at 54-55)-but later reneged and convinced the circuit court to order discovery be 

conducted in accordance with the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. (Id. at 1307; see also 

id. at 61,67-68). 

Since then, JLR has engaged in multiple document productions in accordance with the 

Rules of Civil Procedure. (See App. at 204-11; id. at 213-29) (identifying supplemental 



productions and discovery responses). To date, JLR has produced tens ofthousands of documents 

in response to Plaintiff s discovery requests, including all design and testing materials it has 

relating to the subject seat and headrest. (See, e.g., id. at 57; id. at 204-11). Despite this, Plaintiff 

has repeatedly accused JLR of foul play. (ld. at 68) ("JLR [ ] has unrepentantiy failed to produce 

all of the documents it agreed to supply .... "). What these allegations lacked in quality were 

made up for in quantity, and, eventually, Plaintiff was able convince Judge King to sanction JLR. 

(Id. at 68). 

This petition for a writ of prohibition flows from the circuit court's October 15,2018 Order 

sanctioning JLR and its attendant February 11, 2019 Order imposing a sanction in the amount of 

$75,607.25 ($67,295.00 to Plaintiffs counsel and $8,312.25 to the Discovery Commissioner). 

These orders are unsupported by the facts of this case and West Virginia law. 

2. Overview of Plaintiff's motion for sanctions. 

On March 19, 2018, Plaintiff s counsel filed a motion for sanctions against JLR. (App. at 

66-77). In that motion, Plaintiff alleged JLR had unfairly attempted to force her to follow a 

discovery agreement that her counsel signed. (ld. at 66). She also complained that JLR had 

unnecessarily drawn-out the discovery process by objecting to her discovery requests, and that 

JLR had not produced "additional" documents (Plaintiff did not specify what it was she believed 

was outstanding, and, to date, it is unclear to what documents the motion referred). (ld. at 72-76). 

She demanded the circuit court require JLR to pay Plaintiffs costs and fees "associated with all 

discovery disputes"; (2) strike all of JLR's defenses; (3) accept as true Plaintiff s factual 

allegations as to her causes of action against JLR; and (4) award Plaintiff "any other relief the 

Court deems just and proper." (ld. at 76-77). 
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JLR filed a response in opposition, and, following a brief hearing before the circuit court, 

the court referred the matter to Discovery Commissioner David Hendrickson ("Discovery 

Commissioner"). (App. at 694-713). The Discovery Commissioner held a hearing on Plaintiffs 

motion on September 13,2018. (Id. at 714-48). At this hearing, Plaintiff abandoned the claims 

advanced in her motion. Plaintiff instead advanced an entirely novel argument-that JLR 

destroyed metadata associated with various native-format document productions. (Compare id. at 

67 -77) (Plaintiff s motion for sanctions) (with id. at 716-20) (argument advanced by Plaintiff s 

counsel during the hearing on the motion). This argument had not been the subject of a meet and 

confer and it had never previously been brought to JLR's attention. In fact, the Discovery 

Commissioner expressly indicated that he would not consider this issue because it was not 

presented in Plaintiffs motion for sanctions. (Id. at 745, lines 20-21 of p. 122 of the hearing 

transcript). 

Plaintiffs counsel did not prevail upon the issues raised in her motion, nor on the 

arguments made at the hearing. Indeed, the Discovery Commissioner ultimately disagreed with 

Plaintiffs assertions of malfeasance, (App. at 423) ("I was not swayed by the other evidence 

presented that the Defendant [JLR] had participated in other misconduct in the production of 

documents served."). Similarly, the Commissioner did not recommend an award of any of the 

relief Plaintiff requested; instead, in a letter to the circuit court and a spartan accompanying 

proposed order, the Commissioner recommended that the circuit court: 

enter an Order sanctioning JLR Ltd. by requiring them to ... [inform] the Plaintiff 
which documents by Bates Number or other identification is responsive to which 
Interrogatory or Request for Production .... no later than October 26, 2018, and 
that Jaguar [JLR] pay all costs associated with the Plaintiffs [sic] bringing the 
Motion for Sanctions. 

(App. at 279). 
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Thus, the ordered relief was something Plaintiff s counsel never sought. A review of the 

letter and the proposed order confirms that JLR had not violated an order of the circuit 

court and there was no finding that JLR failed to produce any discovery, withheld 

documents, or otherwise had intentionally sought to delay the discovery process or mislead 

Plaintiff or her counsel. Over JLR's objection and request that the circuit court enter an order in 

accordance with Syllabus Point 6 of State ex ref. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Gaughan, 203 W. Va. 358, 

508 S.E.2d 75 (1998),1 the circuit court entered the Commissioner's proposed order on October 

15,2018. (App. at 284-85). Thereafter, on October 26,2018, JLR produced documentation further 

elucidating for Plaintiff which documents corresponded to which discovery requests. (Id. at 204-

11; id. at 213-29). 

3. Plaintiff's fee and cost petition. 

Again, the relief ordered was not the relief sought. Despite this fact, on October 18, 2018, 

Plaintiffs counsel submitted documentation to the Discovery Commissioner seeking costs and 

fees in relation to their motion for sanctions. (App. at 286-419). All told, Plaintiff s counsel 

sought $251,500.00 in fees and $88,040.80 in costs for pursuing this single motion. Plaintiff s 

counsel claimed to have spent 325 attorney hours (at rates ranging from $400.00 to $1,000.00 per 

I Syllabus Point 6 of Gaughan provides, in full, that: 

A party seeking to petition this Court for an extraordinary writ based upon a non-appealable 
interlocutory decision of a trial court, must request the trial court set out in an order findings 
of fact and conclusions of law that support and form the basis of its decision. In making 
the request to the trial court, counsel must inform the trial court specifically that the request 
is being made because counsel intends to seek an extraordinary writ to challenge the court's 
ruling. When such a request is made, trial courts are obligated to enter an order containing 
findings of fact and conclusions of law. Absent a request by the complaining party, a trial 
court is under no duty to set out findings of fact and conclusions of law in non-appealable 
interlocutory orders. 

203 W. Va. 358, 508 S.E.2d 75 (1998). 
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hour), 115.5 paralegal hours (at $200.00 per hour), and 169 hours for a mechanical engineer (at 

$450.00 per hour) in pursuit of this motion. (Jd.). 

Notably, Plaintiffs counsel's time entries were redacted, and JLR was not permitted to 

review the substance of those entries in order to challenge them. Incredibly, many of these time 

entries preceded Plaintiffs motion for sanctions by more than one year; for instance, Scott Segal's 

very first time entry was for work he performed on September 20, 2016. (Id. at 289). As discussed 

below, this unequivocally cannot be related to the costs of bringing and prosecuting the motion for 

sanctions since that motion was not brought until March 19, 2018--one and a half years later. 

Despite this, Scott Segal and his co-counsel each signed an affidavit swearing that their fees were 

directly related to pursuing the motion for sanctions. (See, e.g., id. at 286-87). 

JLR objected to the award of these fees and costs on October 30, 2018, and moved to be 

afforded the opportunity to review the fee petitions in unredacted form. (App. at 163-77). These 

requests were ignored. The Discovery Commissioner submitted his findings and a proposed order 

to the Court on January 11,2019, in which he recommended the circuit court sanction JLR in the 

amount of$67,295.00 in costs and fees to Plaintiffs counsel and $8,312.25 for his own time spent 

on the matter. (Jd. at 420-23). 

4. The circuit court rubber-stamps the deficient order over JLR's objections. 

On January 14, 2019, JLR objected to the Discovery Commissioner's findings and 

proposed order on the basis that the sanction was not supported by West Virginia law, and that 

JLR was entitled to review Plaintiff s counsel's fee submissions in their unredacted form in order 

to test their veracity. (App. at 531-40). JLR informed the circuit court that the proposed order 

was deficient and failed to comply with West Virginia law. (Jd. at 539) (quoting Syl. Pt. 6, State 

ex reI. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Gaughan, 203 W. Va. 358, 508 S.E.2d 75 (1998) (requiring a circuit 
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court to enter a sufficiently detailed order to allow for meaningful review by this Court)). JLR 

further infonned the court that it would pursue a petition for a writ of prohibition ifthe court chose 

to impose a sanction through the order. (Id.). 

Just like before, however, the circuit court rubber-stamped the Discovery Commissioner's 

proposed order. It failed to enter sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law; failed to 

articulate why a $67,295.00 sanction was appropriate; and made no finding that JLR violated a 

discovery order. (App. at 979-80). 

This petition for a writ of prohibition follows. 2 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

This Court has made clear that "[ a] writ of prohibition is available to correct a clear legal 

error resulting from a trial court's substantial abuse of its discretion in regard to discovery orders." 

Syl. Pt. 1, State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Stephens, 188 W. Va. 622,425 S.E.2d 577 (1992). A 

writ of prohibition should be issued against the Circuit Court of Kanawha County for any of three 

reasons: 

First, the circuit court failed to make sufficient findings of fact or conclusions of law 

despite West Virginia law commanding otherwise, and the orders should be vacated on that basis 

alone. Syl. Pt. 6, State ex ref. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Gaughan. 203 W. Va. 358,508 S.E.2d 75 (1998). 

Second, the circuit court exceeded its lawful authority when it sanctioned JLR under Rule 

3 7(b). The relief awarded was not the relief sought, and JLR did not violate a discovery order. 

Therefore, sanctions under Rule 37(b) cannot be imposed. W. Va. R. Civ. P. 37(b); Cattrell 

2 The Court's February 11,2019 Order required JLR to pay the $75,607.25 sanction award by 
March 13,2019. (App. at 979-80). On March 6, 2019, and upon JLR's motion, the circuit court stayed the 
deadline to pay this sanction pending resolution of the instant petition for a writ of prohibition. (Jd. at 982-
93). 
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Companies, Inc. v. Carlton, Inc., 217 W. Va. 1, 6 n.15, 614 S.E.2d 1, 6 n.15 (2005); see also Syl. 

Pt. 2, Beta v. Stewart, 213 W. Va. 355, 356, 582 S.E.2d 802, 803 (2003). 

Third, the process by which the circuit court imposed sanctions upon JLR violates JLR's 

due process rights. The court held a hearing on Plaintiffs motion for sanctions during which time 

Plaintiff failed to submit any evidence to support her claims; it awarded relief under Rule 37(a) 

rather than Rule 37(b), withheld Plaintiffs counsel's itemization of their fees and costs, and failed 

to articulate why a sanction of over $75,000 ($67,295.00 in costs and fees to Plaintiffs counsel 

and $8,312.25 for the Discovery Commissioner's fees and costs) was justified under the 

circumstances of the case. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Oral argument in this matter under Rule 19 will aid this Court in its decisional process. The 

case involves issues that are narrow in scope. W. Va. Rev. R. App. P. 19(a)(1) and (4). 

Accordingly, a memorandum decision may be appropriate in this matter under either Rule 19(9)(1) 

or (3). Nonetheless, this petition for a writ of prohibition presents the opportunity for this Court 

to expand upon the principles espoused in Bartles-that sanctions under Rule 37 require careful 

handling and consideration by the circuit courts of this state-and embrace extrajurisdictional case 

law requiring that sufficient process be afforded to litigants defending against motions for 

sanctions, including the recognition that sanctions may not be imposed under Rule 37(b) without 

a finding that the allegedly offending party violated a discovery order, and that the party seeking 

sanctions has the burden of proving such claims with actual evidence rather than merely the 

arguments of counsel. For these reasons, oral argument may be appropriate under Rule 20, and a 

signed opinion may be issued under Rule 20. W. Va. Rev. R. App. P. 20(g). 
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ARGUMENT 

1. Statement of jurisdiction and writ of prohibition standard. 

This Court has original jurisdiction to issue a writ of prohibition to restrain a circuit court 

from exceeding its legitimate powers. Syl. Pt. 4, Pries v. Watt, 186 W. Va. 49,410 S.E.2d 285 

(1991) ("A writ of prohibition will lie where the trial court does not have jurisdiction or, having 

jurisdiction, exceeds its legitimate powers."); Syl. Pt. 1, Crawford v. Taylor, 138 W. Va. 207, 75 

S.E.2d 370 (1953). While a petition for a writ of prohibition is not a substitute for a petition for 

appeal or certiorari, this Court has long recognized that a writ of prohibition will issue to correct a 

circuit court legal error committed during the discovery process. Syl. Pt. 1, State Farm Mut. Auto. 

Ins. Co. v. Stephens, 188 W. Va. 622,425 S.E.2d 577 (1992) ("A writ of prohibition is available 

to correct a clear legal error resulting from a trial court's substantial abuse of its discretion in regard 

to discovery orders."). 

Whether to grant the petition involves evaluation of a five-factor test which this Court 

recently reaffirmed in Syllabus Point 1 of State ex rei. Smith v. Sims, 240 W. Va. 601, 814 S.E.2d 

264 (2018): 

(1) whether the party seeking the writ has no other adequate means, such as 
direct appeal, to obtain the desired relief; 

(2) whether the petitioner will be damaged or prejudiced in a way that is not 
correctable on appeal; 

(3) whether the lower tribunal's order is clearly erroneous as a matter oflaw; 

(4) whether the lower tribunal's order is an oft repeated error or manifests 
persistent disregard for either procedural or substantive law; and 

(5) whether the lower tribunal's order raises new and important problems or 
issues of law of first impression. 
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Id. (quoting Syl. Pt. 4, State ex rei. Hoover v. Berger, 199 W. Va. 12,483 S.E.2d 12 (1996». 

Although all five factors need not be satisfied, the third factor-existence of clear error as a matter 

oflaw-"should be given substantial weight." Id. 

The first and second factors are easily satisfied in this matter. First, JLR is harmed now in 

a way that is not correctable in an appeal because it is being forced to use litigation resources to 

pay a hefty fine rather than use those resources to defend against the merits of the case below. 

Moreover, JLR will not be able to seek appellate review of the circuit court's sanctions order in 

the event the case resolves either before, during, or after trial, or if (and when) JLR receives a 

defense verdict. Put another way, if this Court declines to hear this petition, the only way JLR will 

be able to seek redress of the circuit court's ruling will be to take this case to trial and lose. Due, 

in part to this consideration, this Court has recognized on multiple occasions that a writ will lie 

when a circuit court exceeds its authority when entering orders relating to discovery disputes. Syl. 

Pt. 1, State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Stephens, 188 W. Va. 622, 624, 425 S.E.2d 577, 579 

(1992); Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rei. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Marks, 223 W. Va. 452, 453, 676 S.E.2d 

156,157 (2009) (same); State ex rei. Allstate Ins. Co. v. Madden, 215 W. Va. 705, 712, 601 S.E.2d 

25,32 (2004) (same). 

The third factor is also satisfied and for at least three reasons. As discussed below, the 

circuit court's order is erroneous as a matter of law because it contains no conclusions of law (a 

clear and fundamental requirement of West Virginia law, see Syl. Pt. 6, in part, State ex rei. Allstate 

Ins. Co. v. Gauhan, 203 W. Va. 358, 508 S.E.2d 75 (1998); Watts v. Ballard, 238 W. Va. 730, 733, 

798 S.E.2d 856, 859 (2017» and also because the court sanctioned JLR without so much as finding 

that JLR violated a discovery order (again, a well-settled dictate of West Virginia law, W. Va. Civ. 

P. 3 7(b ». In addition, JLR had no opportunity to review or contest the amount of sanctions because 

9 



the court failed to provide an explanation of how it arrived at the amount of the monetary penalty 

and withheld relevant documentation. 

The fourth and fifth factors are similarly satisfied. The circuit court rubber-stamped a 

deficient proposed order and its award of sanctions violated JLR Ltd.' s due process rights. While 

this Court has indicated that an unnecessarily severe sanction implicates a defendant's due process 

rights, it has never addressed where that line must be drawn. This invariably raises a "new and 

important" issue of law, and it is certainly capable of repetition given the frequency in which 

discovery disputes arise. 3 Issuing a decision addressing the proper application of Rule 37 will 

correct the error below and provide guidance to the trial courts of this state. 

Finally, this petition is timely filed. The circuit court's order imposing the monetary 

sanction was entered on February 11, 2019--only thirty (30) days ago. The Revised Rules of 

Appellate Procedure afford a party seeking to appeal four months to perfect his or her appeal. W. 

Va. Rev. R. App. P. 5( f). JLR is filing this petition and appendix in a fraction of that amount of 

time. In short, this petition is properly before this Court. 

2. Standard of review of the circuit court's erroneous decision to sanction JLR. 

A circuit court's award of attorney's fees as a form of sanction is reviewed for an abuse of 

discretion. Syl. Pt. 4, Bartles v. Hinkle, 196 W. Va. 381,472 S.E.2d 827 (1996). "A trial court 

abuses its discretion if its ruling is based on an erroneous assessment of the evidence or the law." 

Id. at 389, 472 S.E.2d at 835 (citing Cox v. State, 194 W. Va. 210, 218 n.3, 460 S.E.2d 25, 33 n 3 

(1995) (Cleckley, J., concurring)). 

3 See John H. Beisner, The Centre Cannot Hold-The Needfor Effective Reform of the u.s. Civil 
DiscovelY Process, U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Refonn (May 20 I 0) (lamenting that "discovery has 
become the focus ofiitigation, rather than a mere step in the adjudication process."); Pacini, Carl & Young, 
et. ai, Fighting Discovery Abuse in Litigation. Journal of Forensic and Investigative Accounting, 6 (2014) 
(observing that "discovery has been transfonned from a tool to gather facts during litigation to a tactical 
weapon"). 
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3. This Court should vacate the circuit court's orders because they do not comply with 
West Virginia law. 

West Virginia law plainly provides that when a party intends to seek an extraordinary writ 

and it requests the circuit court to set out an order containing findings of fact and conclusions of 

law that fonn the basis of its decision, the trial court is "obligated to enter an order containing 

fmdings of fact and conclusions of law." Syl. Pt. 6, in part, State ex rei. Allstate Ins. Co. v. 

Gauhan, 203 W. Va. 358, 508 S.E.2d 75 (1998).4 

JLR twice infonned the circuit court that it would seek the issuance of an extraordinary 

writ if the court sanctioned JLR, and specifically moved the court, pursuant to Syllabus Point 6 of 

Guaghan, to enter legally sufficient orders. (App. at 539, 988). JLR also expressly infonned the 

circuit court that the Discovery Commissioner's proposed orders were legally insufficient. (Id. at 

539,988). Despite this, the circuit court validated the orders as written, failing to heed Gaughan. 

(Id. at 284-85, 979-80). Consequently, this Court should vacate the circuit court's orders with 

instructions that it hold further proceedings on the motion for sanctions. These proceedings must 

include an evidentiary hearing to allow the circuit court to make appropriate findings of fact to 

incorporate into any subsequent orders. 

Nonetheless, even examining only these deficient orders, it is manifestly apparent that the 

circuit court exceeded its lawful authority and abused its discretion when it sanctioned JLR. 

4 This is also consistent with this Court's long-recognized principle that orders involving issues of 
substance must contain sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law to permit meaningful appellate 
review. See Nestor v. Bruce Hardwood Flooring, L.P., 206 W. Va. 453, 456,525 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1999). 
Cj Watts, 238 W. Va. at 733, 798 S.E.2d at 859; Ballard v. Hurt, 230 W. Va. 374, 380, 738 S.E.2d 538, 
544 (2012) (reversing order granting relief because the SCA WV was "unable to conduct a meaningful 
review" because the order lacked sufficient findings of fact and conclusions of law); see generally McLane 
Co. v. E.E. 0. c., 137 S. Ct. 1159, 1170 (2017) (noting that appellate courts are "court[ s] of review, not of 
first view."). 
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4. The circuit court exceeded its authority when it sanctioned JLR without finding that 
JLR violated a discovery order. 

A. The circuit court's October 15, 2018 Order violates Rule 37. 

Rule 37(b) ofthe West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure permits a circuit court to sanction 

a party who fails to comply with a lawful discovery order. W. Va. R. Civ. P. 37(b). It identifies 

five specific sanctions available to a circuit court, which range from prohibiting the offending party 

from introducing certain evidence at trial to striking the party's pleadings or defenses. W. Va. R. 

Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(A)-(D). Alternatively, subsection E of the Rule provides that: 

In lieu of any of the foregoing orders or in addition thereto, the court shall require 
the party failing to obey the order or the attorney advising that party or both to pay 
the reasonable expenses, including attorney's fees, caused by the failure, unless the 
court finds that the failure was substantially justified or that other circumstances 
make an award of expenses unjust. 

W. Va. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(E). 

Given the potency of remedies available to a circuit court under this rule, sanctions may 

not be imposed against a party unless the circuit court first determines that the party refused to 

comply "with a lawful discovery order." Cattrell Companies, Inc., 217 W. Va. at 6 n.15, 614 

S.E.2d at 6 n.15 (quoting State ex rei. McGraw v. W Va. Judicial Review Bd., 165 W. Va. 704, 

708-09,271 S.E.2d 344, 347 (1980)); see also Syl. Pt. 1, in part, Prager v. Meckling, 172 W.Va. 

785,310 S.E.2d 852 (1983); Syl. Pt. 2, Beta v. Stewart, 213 W. Va. 355, 582 S.E.2d 802 (2003); 

McGraw, 165 W. Va. at 708-09, 271 S.E.2d at 347 ("Petitioner is not entitled to have us dismiss 

the complaint under Rule 37(b) because this action can be taken only after a party refuses to 

comply with a lawful discovery order."). A survey of federal case law interpreting Rule 3 7(b) of 

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure confirms this understanding: "Rule 37(b) sanctions require 

the violation of an explicit court order." Salahuddin v. Harris, 782 F.2d 1127, 1133 (2d Cir. 1986); 

Unigard Sec. Ins. Co. v. Lakewood Eng'g & Mfg. Corp., 982 F.2d 363,368 (9th Cir. 1992) ("Rule 
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37(b)(2)'s requirement that there be some form of court order that has been disobeyed has not been 

read out of existence; Rule 37(b)(2) has never been read to authorize sanctions for more general 

discovery abuse."); Beck v. Test Masters Educ. Servs., Inc., 289 F.R.D. 374,381 (D.D.C. 2013); 

see generally Carazani v. Zegarra, 972 F. Supp. 2d 1, 12 (D.D.C. 2013) (explaining that sanctions 

under Rule 37(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure first involve determining whether a party 

failed to obey a discovery order). 5 

Even a cursory review of the circuit court's October 15, 2018 Order reveals that it made 

no such finding. (App. at 99-100). Quite the contrary, the court determined that JLR "provided a 

substantial amount of material to the Plaintiff." (Id. at 99). While the court was not entirely 

satisfied with the manner in which certain responsive material was produced, the court did not find 

that its discovery order had been violated. Instead, the court "granted" Plaintiff s motion for 

sanctions "insofar as Defendant [JLR] is required by no later than the 26th of October, 2018, to 

supplement their responses to Plaintiff s discovery by detailing which documents produced by 

Bates Number or other identification are responsive to Plaintiffs Interrogatories and Requests for 

Production of Documents." (Id.). 

Equally demonstrative of the court's error in this matter is that it ordered JLR to supplement 

its written discovery. The problem with this ruling is that "a motion for sanctions [under Rule 

5 "Because the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure are patterned after the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure, [this Court] often refer[s] to interpretations of the Federal Rules when discussing [the West 
Virginia] rules. Keplinger v. Virginia Elec. & Power Co., 208 W. Va. 11,20,537 S.E.2d 632,641 (2000) 
(citing Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 192 n.6, 451 S.E.2d 755, 758 n.6 (1994) ("Because the West 
Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure are practically identical to the Federal Rules, we give substantial weight 
to federal cases ... in detennining the meaning and scope of our rules.")); State v. Sutphin, 195 W. Va. 
551,563,466 S.E.2d 402, 414 (1995) ( "The West Virginia Rules of Evidence are patterned upon the 
Federal Rules of Evidence, ... and we have repeatedly recognized that when codified procedural rules or 
rules of evidence of West Virginia are patterned after the corresponding federal rules, federal decisions 
interpreting those rules are persuasive guides in the interpretation of our rules.")). 
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37(b)] is not a 'motion for an order compelling disclosure or discovery ... and so is not a Rule 

37(a) motion." Beck, 289 F.R.D. at 381. Plaintiff did not move to compel discovery-she moved 

to sanction JLR-and the unrequested and unanticipated remedy crafted by the Discovery 

Commissioner and adopted by the circuit court falls outside the ambit of Rule 37(b). 

For these reasons, the circuit court was without authority to impose sanctions against JLR 

under Rule 37(b), and its orders must be vacated. 

B. The circuit court's order violates the State and Federal Constitutions. 

The circuit court's decision to sanction JLR without finding that a discovery order was 

violated concomitantly violates JLR's due process rights under both the State and Federal 

constitutions. A sanction imposed absent this threshold determination transforms a remedial 

award-to recompense the aggrieved party for the harm caused by the offending party's conduct-

into an unconstitutional penalty. 

Writing for a unanimous Court in Bartles, Justice Cleckley explained that a party subject 

to a sanctions motion must be afforded sufficient procedural safeguards. Bartles, 196 W. Va. at 

390,472 S.E.2d at 836. These safeguards flow from the Due Process Clause of Article III, Section 

10 of the West Virginia Constitution. See id. a Syl. Pt. 1,472 S.E.2d at 830. The Bartles Court 

directed the circuit courts of this state to engage in the following: 

In formulating the appropriate sanction, a court shall be guided by equitable 
principles. Initially, the court must identify the alleged wrongful conduct and 
determine if it warrants a sanction. The court must explain its reasons clearly on 
the record if it decides a sanction is appropriate. To determine what will constitute 
an appropriate sanction, the court may consider the seriousness of the conduct, the 
impact the conduct had in the case and in the administration of justice, any 
mitigating circumstances, and whether the conduct was an isolated occurrence or 
was a pattern of wrongdoing throughout the case. 

Id. at Syl. Pt. 2, 472 S.E.2d at 831; Syl. Pt. 6, State ex rei. Richmond Am. Homes of W Virginia, 

Inc. v. Sanders, 226 W. Va. 103,697 S.E.2d 139 (2010) (same). Moreover, "[t]he party seeking 
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sanctions under Rule 3 7(b) has the burden of proving noncompliance with a discovery order. If 

established, the burden of proof shifts to the noncompliant party to demonstrate either that it was 

unable to comply or that special circumstances exist which make the imposition of sanctions 

unjust." Bartles, 196 W. Va. at 381, 472 S.E.2d at 836. 

This process was not followed below. Plaintiffs counsel did not establish that JLR violated 

a discovery order and the circuit court made no such finding. In fact, the relief the circuit court 

fashioned had nothing to do with the allegations raised by the Plaintiff in her motion for 

sanctions, and the circuit court expressly rejected Plaintiff's "evidence" relating to JLR's 

alleged misconduct. (App. at 99-100,423). As Bartles illustrates, the West Virginia Constitution 

demands greater care than that afforded by the court below. 

Examining an analogous case through the lens of the Federal Due Process Clause, the 

United States Supreme Court recently remarked that the imposition of such a sanction is 

permissible only in the presence of various "procedural guarantees," including a heightened 

standard of proof. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Haeger, 137 S. Ct. 1178, 1186 (2017); see 

generally Satcorp Int'! Grp. v. China Nat. Silk Imp. & Exp. Corp., 101 F.3d 3, 5 (2d Cir. 1996) 

("The Constitution requires the provision of procedural protections before a non-compensatory, 

punitive fine can be demanded from a party or from an attorney."); id. at 6 ("for due process 

purposes, a Rule 37 fine is effectively a criminal contempt sanction, requiring notice and the 

opportunity to be heard.") (internal citations omitted) 

But JLR was not afforded these procedural safeguards-much less a heightened burden of 

proof. During the hearing on the motion for sanctions, Plaintiff s counsel presented argument but 

offered no actual evidence to support her claims. (See, e.g., App. at 716-23). The only witness 

from whom Plaintiff s counsel elicited testimony was a purported e-discovery expert who 
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discussed the nature of metadata contained (or not contained) within the documents JLR had 

produced during the course of the litigation. (Id. at 720-35). This testimony was wholly 

disconnected from Plaintiffs motion for sanctions and was expressly rejected by the circuit court. 

(!d. at 423) (reflecting the Discovery Commissioner's findings, which were fully incorporated into 

the Court's Order, that he disagreed with Plaintiffs allegations of misconduct); id. at 745 (lines 

20-21, p. 122 of hearing transcript) (statement by the Discovery Commissioner that the proposed 

ruling would be "based upon" the claims raised by Plaintiff s counsel at the time the motion was 

filed.). Indeed, this witness, Trent Walton, conceded-and the Discovery Commissioner 

observed-that he had no knowledge or understanding of any of the issues involved in the 

litigation or even understood the substance of the documents that JLR had produced to Plaintiff s 

counsel during the course of the litigation. (Id. at 731-32) (Discovery Commissioner: "He [Trent 

Walton] doesn't understand what [] the case is about."). JLR also objected to Plaintiffs counsel's 

proffers during the hearing because such statements do not constitute evidence, yet the circuit court 

based its decision on only that and nothing more. (Jd. at 717-18) (pages 13-16 of hearing 

transcript). 

For these reasons, the circuit court's order sanctioning JLR was not supported by any 

evidence, which necessarily means the proceeding failed to meet the heightened evidentiary bar 

afforded to litigants tasked with defending against a motion for sanctions. Furthermore, JLR was 

not even afforded a hearing in which to contest the validity of the recommended sanction or the 

monetary award, and while JLR raised objections, neither the Discovery Commissioner nor the 

circuit court so much as acknowledged, much less addressed, those objections. 

Accordingly, the sanction violates JLR's due process rights. 
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5. The imposition of $67,295.00 in sanctions along with the circuit court's failure to 
identify how that number was calculated violates Rule 37 and JLR's due process 
rights. 

Assuming, for the sake of argument, that the circuit court had the authority to sanction JLR 

(as discussed in the above section, it did not), its February 11,2019 Order imposing $67,295.00 in 

fees and costs to Plaintiff s counsel violates the circuit court's own October 15, 2018 Order, in 

addition to Rule 37's "reasonableness requirements," and JLR's due process rights. 

A. The circuit court erred when it awarded attorney's fees because its October 
15,2018 Order only permitted Plaintiff's counsel to recover reasonable costs. 

Imposition of sanctions constitutes an extraordinary measure levied against a party who 

fails to meet the "minimum standards of conduct" during the discovery process. Bartles, 196 W. 

Va. at 389, 472 S.E.2d at 835. Sanctions "must be exercised with restraint," and must be 

"appropriate." Id. Any sanction imposed against a party must be consistent with the conduct at 

issue: harsh sanctions for grievous misconduct; milder sanctions for others. Cox v. State, 194 W. 

Va. 210, 218, 460 S.E.2d 25, 33 (1995) (Cleckley, J., concurring). Given this, it is hardly 

surprising that sanctions may take many forms-including an award of expert or travel costs, court 

reporter expenses, or attorney's fees. See, e.g., Cattrell Companies, Inc., 217 W. Va. at 15,614 

S.E.2d at 15 (imposing sanctions in the form of costs related to canceled depositions; travel; and 

costs and fees for pursuing appeal); Murthy v. Karpacs-Brown, 237 W. Va. 490, 495, 788 S.E.2d 

18,23 (2016) (imposing sanctions in the form of, inter alia, attorney's fees and court costs). 

But the terms "attorney's fees" and "costs" are not synonymous, and the definition of 

"costs" does not encompass "attorney's fees." See, e.g., CaW"ell Companies, Inc., 217 W. Va. at 

15,614 S.E.2d at 15 (remanding a matter involving sanctions under Rule 37 with instructions that 

the circuit court consider awarding a party its "costs and/or attorney fees incurred in connection 

with the cancellation of the depositions scheduled."); Bartles, 196 W. Va. at 389, 472 S.E.2d at 
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835 (referring separately to "attorney's fees" and "costs" as potentially recoverable items 

following a successful motion for sanctions under Rule 37); Pritt v. Suzuki Motor Co., 204 W. Va. 

388,394,513 S.E.2d 161,167 (1998) (referring to "costs" as something separate and apart from 

"attorney's fees"); Daily Gazette Co. v. Canady, 175 W. Va. 249, 253, 332 S.E.2d 262, 266 (1985) 

(same); Czaja v. Czaja, 208 W. Va. 62, 75, 537 S.E.2d 908, 921 (2000) (same); see also State ex 

reI. Rees v. Hatcher, 214 W. Va. 746, 750, 591 S.E.2d 304, 308 (2003) (per curiam) (addressing 

an imposition of sanctions involving only "costs"-not attorney's fees). Drawing a distinction 

between "costs" and "fees" is a hallmark of the "American Rule" and a bedrock principle of our 

civil jurisprudence. Marek v. Chesny, 473 U.S. 1, 8 (1985). The default rule is that attorney fees 

are not costs. E.g., id. 

Indeed, statutes pennitting an award of costs to a party are presumed to not encompass 

attorney fees unless the Legislature (or Congress, depending upon the sovereign) expressly 

includes the tenn "attorney's fees" within the statutory definition of "costs." One such example 

is when an individual prevails in a suit arising under Section 407 of The Communications Act of 

1934: "[i]f the petitioner shall finally prevail, he shall be allowed a reasonable attorney's fee, to 

be taxed and collected as a part of the costs of the suit." 47 U.S.C. § 407. On the other hand, Rule 

68 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure generally does not include "attorney's fees" 

within the definition of "costs," unless the statute giving rise to the cause of action at issue 

expressly defines attorney's fees as a "cost." Carper v. Watson, 226 W. Va. 50, 58, 697 S.E.2d 

86,94 (2010). Thus, attorney's fees do not constitute "costs" for any common law causes of action 

and most statutory causes of action. See generally id. As outlined above, the outcome under Rule 

37 is no different: attorney's fees fall within the definition of an "expense"-not a "cost." See 

generally T. Weston, Inc. v. Mineral Cly., 219 W. Va. 564, 568, 638 S.E.2d 167, 171 (2006) 
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(discussing the phrase expressio unius est exclusio alterius: "the express mention of one thing 

implies the exclusion of another"), 

In this case, by Order entered on October 15, 2018, the circuit court awarded Plaintiffs 

counsel their reasonable "costs" associated in bringing their motion for sanctions. (Ex. H at 

1). The language of the Order is plain and unambiguous, and controls the scope of the award. See 

generally State v. Butler, 239 W. Va. 168, 174, 799 S.E.2d 718, 724 (2017) (summarizing the 

principle of statutory construction that words and terms are afforded their plain and ordinary 

meaning when the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous); Legg v. Felinton, 219 W. Va. 

478,483, 637 S.E.2d 576, 581 (2006) ("It is a paramount principle of jurisprudence that a court 

speaks only through its orders."). 

Yet, and inextricably, the circuit court awarded Plaintiffs counsel a substantial amount of 

fees by order entered on February 11, 2018. As the discussion above establishes, such an award 

IS Improper. 

B. The $67,295.00 sanction violates Rule 37's "reasonableness requirements," 
and JLR's due process rights. 

Incredibly, Plaintiffs counsel, the Discovery Commissioner, and the circuit court withheld 

from JLR an itemization of the fees Plaintiffs counsel claimed to have incurred as a result of 

pursuing their motion for sanctions. (See App. at 791-96, redacted entries of Scott Segal; id. at 

836-37, redacted time entries of James Gilbert; id. at 887-89, redacted time entries of Jason Foster; 

id. 895-96, redacted time entries of Anthony Bolson; id. at 420-21, Discovery Commissioner's 

letter reflecting that the unredacted copies were maintained under seal). Plaintiff s counsel's time 

entries were redacted-foreclosing JLR's ability to review and contest the reasonableness of these 

alleged fees, including whether the alleges fees were related to the motion. 
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While this Court has not yet had occasion to address the propriety of this practice, 

extrajurisdictional case law confinns that these time entries must be sufficiently unredacted in 

order to provide the opposing party (JLR) the opportunity to contest the desired award. See, e.g., 

Thermotek, Inc. v. Orthoflex, Inc., 2016 WL 6330429, at *3 (N.D. Tex. Oct. 27, 2016). Cf In re 

WA.R. LLP, 475 B.R. 1, 4 (Bankr. D.D.C. 2012) (gathering cases from a number of states that 

stand for the proposition that, when dealing with sanctions, a plaintiff "may not redact, even 

partially, any entry for which reimbursement is being sought."). While Plaintiffs counsel claimed 

below-without support-that every single one of these entries was privileged, the circuit court 

never made such a finding and therefore, there is no legal basis upon which to withhold these 

records from JLR's review. Cf Hawkins v. Stables, 148 F.3d 379,383 (4th Cir. 1998) (addressing 

a claim of attorney-client privilege on appeal and explaining: "The district court misplaced the 

burden in this case. The burden of proving that a communication falls under the attorney-client 

privilege rests on the proponent of the privilege."). 

Alanningly, what little can be gleaned from these records revealed that Plaintiffs counsel 

did not confine their fee requests to work directly associated with the motion for sanctions. It 

strains logic to believe that Plaintiffs' counsel was working on a four-page motion for sanctions 

over a year and a half before that motion was actually filed. (App. at 791) (time entries of Scott 

Segal for September 2016). Many of the entries also appear to consist of large blocks of time and 

were not contemporaneously recorded, when comparing the paralegal's unredacted time entries 

with the redacted time entries of an attorney in her office-both of whom have a single time entry 

for 24 hours of work. (Compare id. at 863 with id. at 836) (a single time entry for 24 hours of 

alleged work perfonned exclusively in pursuit of the motion for sanctions). Both practices have 

been frequently condemned by courts across the nation. Nu-Life Const. Corp. v. Ed. ofEduc., 795 

20 



F. Supp. 602, 603 (E.D.N.Y. 1992) ("In [the Second Circuit], in order for a party to recover 

attorney's fees, such time records must be made contemporaneously with the associated work."); 

Beck, 289 F.R.D. at 384 (expressing disapproval with an attorney's failure to maintain 

contemporaneous time logs when ruling upon that attorney's fee petition); A.L. ex rei. P.L.B. v. 

Jackson Cty. Sch. Bd., 2014 WL 2155223, at *7 (N.D. Fla. May 22,2014) (rejecting many time 

entries because they "lack[ ed] sufficient detail"); Mosaid Techs. Inc. v. Samsung Elecs. Co., 224 

F.R.D. 595, 598-99 (D.N.J.) (noting that "[t]hese entries are . . . too vague to warrant 

reimbursement"). Cf Skurka Aerospace, Inc. v. Eaton Aerospace, L.L. c., 2013 WL 12131141, at 

*2 (N.D. Ohio Aug. 23, 2013) ("[B]lock billing is permissible, so long as the entries contain 

enough information for the court to determine the reasonableness of the time expended on the 

task. "). 

In addition, while the circuit court presumably had access to these unredacted time entries 

and made a finding as to which fees and rates were reasonable, because sanctions, by their very 

nature, implicate due process considerations, see, e.g., Bartles, 196 W. Va. at 390, 472 S.E.2d at 

836 (observing that sanctions proceedings carry a "procedural dimension"); Satcorp. Int'l Grp., 

101 F.3d at 6, JLR is entitled to review Plaintiffs counsels' fee submissions in addition to the 

circuit court's behind-the-scenes findings in order to meaningfully contest them. Without this 

opportunity, JLR will be forced to pay a sanction built upon purported fees locked away in a black 

box and out of reach. While West Virginia derives most of its common law from England, it did 

not keep the Star Chamber. 

To be clear, to date, JLR quite literally has no idea how or why the circuit court arrived at 

a $67,295 sanction, and the record (or, more accurately, the lack thereof), fails to establish how or 

why such an award is reasonable. On the other hand, what JLR does know is that Plaintiff s 
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counsel claimed to have incurred over $330,000 in pursuing a single motion in which they did not 

seek any of the relief awarded, and claimed to have spent time working on this motion over one 

year before the motion was even filed. (See id. at 791). This Court should not condone such a 

mockery of the judicial system. 

To the extent Plaintiff is entitled to an award (and she is not), JLR is entitled to contest the 

basis for that award. West Virginia law-Rule 37 and due process-requires no less. For these 

reasons, and only to the extent this Court does not vacate both orders, this Court should vacate the 

Court's February 11, 2019 Order with instructions that the circuit court produce unredacted 

documents and hold a hearing during which JLR should be afforded the opportunity to contest 

Plaintiff s claimed fees. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court should issue a writ and vacate the circuit court's October 15, 2018 and February 

11,2019 orders with instructions that sanctions may not be imposed in this instance. Alternatively, 

this Court should vacate these orders and direct the circuit court to conduct an evidentiary hearing 

on Plaintiff s motion for sanctions, that Plaintiff s counsel be required to submit actual evidence 

of the alleged misconduct, and, only insofar as the circuit court grants that motion, that JLR be 

afforded the opportunity to contest Plaintiff s alleged fees and costs in unredacted form. 
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